

Review in Advance first posted online on September 19, 2014. (Changes may still occur before final publication online and in print.)

# Adult Neurogenesis: Beyond Learning and Memory

# Heather A. Cameron<sup>1</sup> and Lucas R. Glover<sup>1,2</sup>

 <sup>1</sup>Section on Neuroplasticity, National Institute of Mental Health, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland 20892; email: heathercameron@mail.nih.gov
<sup>2</sup>Department of Experimental Psychology, University of Oxford, Oxford, OX1 3UD United Kingdom

Annu. Rev. Psychol. 2015. 66:32.1-32.29

The Annual Review of Psychology is online at psych.annualreviews.org

This article's doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-010814-015006

Copyright © 2015 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

#### Keywords

hippocampus, granule cells, behavior, emotion, stress

#### Abstract

New neurons continue to be generated in the dentate gyrus throughout life, providing this region of the hippocampus with exceptional structural plasticity, but the function of this ongoing neurogenesis is unknown. Inhibition of adult neurogenesis produces some behavioral impairments that suggest a role for new neurons in learning and memory; however, other behavioral changes appear inconsistent with this function. A review of studies investigating the function of the hippocampus going back several decades reveals many ideas that seem to converge on a critical role for the hippocampus in stress response and emotion. These potential hippocampal functions provide new avenues for investigating the behavioral functions of adult neurogenesis. And, conversely, studies in animals lacking adult neurogenesis, which are likely to have more limited and more specific impairments than are seen with lesions, may provide valuable new insights into the function of the hippocampus. A complete understanding of the function of the hippocampus must explain its role in emotion and the relationship between its emotional and memory functions.

#### Contents

INTRODUCTION	32.2
ELIMINATING NEW NEURONS	
FUNCTION OF NEW NEURONS IN THE HIPPOCAMPUS	
Trace Fear Conditioning	
Recognition	32.5
Spatial Memory	32.5
Pattern Separation	
Nonmnemonic Tasks	
HIPPOCAMPUS-DEPENDENT BEHAVIORS WITHOUT CLEAR	
MEMORY COMPONENTS	
Anxiety	32.8
Endocrine Response to Stress	
Behavioral Inhibition	
Orienting and Attention Shifting	
Innate Fear Response in Nonhuman Primates	
ALTERNATIVE IDEAS ABOUT HIPPOCAMPAL FUNCTION	
Emotion	
Orienting and Behavioral Inhibition	32.15
Prediction	
CONCLUSIONS	

### **INTRODUCTION**

Most mammalian brain regions receive their full complement of neurons before birth, with each neuronal population added during a very specific time window in development. The hippocampal granule cells, which are the primary excitatory neurons of the dentate gyrus and the recipients of the majority of inputs into the hippocampus, begin to be produced late in development and, unlike most neurons, continue to be generated in large numbers throughout life. Anatomical and electrophysiological studies provide strong evidence that these adult-born neurons become synaptically linked into hippocampal circuits, suggesting that they are functional. The rate of adult neurogenesis is strongly regulated by environmental factors and experience, providing indirect evidence that these new neurons may be involved in mediating interactions with the environment. However, the role that these neurons play in cognition and behavior is still unclear. There is a great deal of interest in adult neurogenesis from both fundamental and clinical perspectives, but in order for the field to continue to move forward, it is critical to understand how ongoing neurogenesis contributes to behavior. Identifying the specific behaviors in which new neurons play a role, and the particular function of the new neurons in these behaviors, is a necessary first step toward understanding why these neurons continue to be generated, whether inhibition of neurogenesis is detrimental, and whether increasing neurogenesis through pharmacological or behavioral interventions might be beneficial.

This review begins by describing animal models in which adult neurogenesis can be specifically inhibited and the behaviors that are affected in these models. Because some of the behavioral changes in animals lacking young neurons seem at odds with presumed roles in learning and memory, evidence for nonmnemonic effects of inactivating or lesioning the hippocampus itself are then discussed, followed by a broader discussion of historical and more recent ideas about

Cameron • Glover

hippocampal functions outside of learning and memory. These alternative functions suggest a potential role for new neurons in aspects of decision making and emotion in addition to, or possibly even instead of, predicted roles in learning and memory.

#### **ELIMINATING NEW NEURONS**

For many years, hints about the function of adult neurogenesis have been sought by examining parallel changes in performance in hippocampus-dependent behavior tasks and numbers of new neurons. Behavior tasks that increase the survival of young neurons seem likely to involve those new neurons in an important way. Similarly, manipulations of genes or experiences (e.g., exercise) that alter both numbers of new neurons and particular behaviors suggest a possible link between the two effects. However, assuming that parallel changes in adult neurogenesis and behavior indicate a causal relationship is problematic (Lazic 2010, 2012).

Fortunately, tools are now available to specifically inhibit or enhance adult neurogenesis. Several methods are available, each with positive and negative features. The first method used to inhibit adult neurogenesis was pharmacological treatment with a chemotherapeutic agent, methylazoxymethanol acetate (MAM) (Shors et al. 2001). Studies continue to use pharmacological cell division inhibitors, though cytarabine and temozolomide are now more commonly used than MAM. The primary advantages of pharmacological inhibition of adult neurogenesis are that (a) it can be used in any strain or species since it does not require a transgene, (b) it does not require expensive equipment, and (c) it can be administered via simple systemic injection, obviating the need for surgeries or anesthetics that could potentially alter neurogenesis or behavior. The primary limitation of these chemotherapeutic agents is that they inhibit cell proliferation throughout the body, potentially producing immunological, gastrointestinal, or other side effects. Cell division inhibitors can be injected into the brain directly, although this procedure then requires anesthesia and invasive surgery with the associated potential for pharmacological and immunological side effects as well as surgical damage to the targeted region. Effective use of these agents requires that the doses be minimized and potential side effects carefully controlled for to isolate the specifically affected behavior (Shors et al. 2001).

Several pharmacogenetic models have been developed to specifically inhibit or enhance adult neurogenesis. These models use stem cell-specific promoters to target the neuronal precursors. combined with drugs that confer temporal specificity, enabling inhibition of neurogenesis to be limited to adulthood, after normal hippocampal development is complete. The herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase (HSV-TK) models target stem cells using their glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) or nestin expression, causing these cells to produce a herpes virus protein that leads to DNA damage and cell death if they attempt to divide in the presence of an antiviral drug (Saxe et al. 2006, Snyder et al. 2011b). Several other models drive drug-inducible Cre protein specifically in stem cells, e.g., via nestin promoters, allowing injections of tamoxifen to permanently insert or remove useful genes in these cells during adulthood. As an example of this type of targeting, one mouse strain expresses the diphtheria toxin receptor in stem cells, which then causes newly generated cells to die following injection of diphtheria toxin. This method has the advantage of being able to mark adult-born cells as they are dividing and then kill them at later stages after they are functionally mature, allowing behavioral training to occur when neurogenesis is intact (Arruda-Carvalho et al. 2011). Another model uses the same inducible Cre gene to specifically knock out a subtype of glutamate receptors, NR2B-containing receptors, in the young neurons, inhibiting their normal functioning (Kheirbek et al. 2012b). A third inducible Cre model, and the only method to specifically increase numbers of new neurons, uses this strategy to eliminate expression of the proapoptotic gene, Bax, preventing the cell death that normally occurs in a

www.annualreviews.org • Adult Neurogenesis



large fraction of new neurons during maturation (Sahay et al. 2011a, Snyder 2009a). Cre models provide a great deal of flexibility, but because they affect cells independent of mitosis, nonspecific expression of Cre in other brain regions is a potential concern (Sun et al. 2014).

Perhaps the most commonly used method for eliminating adult neurogenesis in the rodent is irradiation. Although whole-body irradiation has major effects on the immune and other systems, irradiation targeted to the brain has surprisingly few detectable effects aside from inhibiting neurogenesis (Tan et al. 2011, Wojtowicz 2006). Following targeted brain irradiation, rats show no changes in numbers of red or white blood cells, axonal conduction velocity, and synaptic release probability in the dentate gyrus and hippocampal CA1 region (Snyder et al. 2005). Small (5-10%) decreases in weight gain have been reported in irradiated rats relative to their shamirradiated counterparts (Snyder et al. 2005), but it is not clear whether this a nonspecific effect or a result of losing neurogenesis, perhaps part of an affective syndrome (Dzirasa & Covington 2012). The primary disadvantage of irradiation is that it uses large, expensive equipment requiring specialized knowledge to run and maintain. However, it has the unique advantage of being able to noninvasively target the hippocampus specifically, using collimation and/or shielding to direct irradiation to the caudal portion of the rodent brain, thus sparing the subventricular zone precursor cells that generate olfactory bulb neurons (Santarelli et al. 2003, Snyder et al. 2011b). All of the pharmacogenetic models to date target adult neurogenesis in the olfactory bulb as well as the hippocampus, as do chemotherapeutic agents, unless the drugs are injected into the hippocampus itself. Advanced shielding and image-guided irradiation promise to allow even more specific spatial targeting, concentrating the highest dose of irradiation in the hippocampus or even a portion of the hippocampus (Tan et al. 2011, Wu & Hen 2014). Irradiation has been used to demonstrate that social interaction deficits are specific to olfactory neurogenesis and that anxiety/depressive-like behavior changes are produced specifically by loss of hippocampal adult neurogenesis (Feierstein 2012, Santarelli et al. 2003, Snyder et al. 2011b). However, because of the lack of spatial specificity of most methods, including irradiation in many studies, it is frequently not clear whether observed behavioral deficits reflect the loss of new neurons from the hippocampus, the olfactory bulb, or potentially even other neurogenic regions including the hypothalamus, striatum, and neocortex (Dayer et al. 2005, Ernst et al. 2014, Robins et al. 2013).

Each method of inhibiting adult neurogenesis has strengths and weaknesses, and each is likely to have some level of nonspecificity, even if none has been detected. Nevertheless, the irradiation, chemotherapeutic, and pharmacogenetic methods described above can all inhibit adult neurogenesis without obvious nonspecific effects. And, importantly, these methods produce behavioral changes that are frequently replicated using another, suggesting that the particular methods used to inhibit neurogenesis not likely to explain apparent differences between findings. Therefore, the behavioral findings in animals lacking adult neurogenesis are discussed below, in many cases without reference to which of these specific methods was used to inhibit adult neurogenesis.

#### FUNCTION OF NEW NEURONS IN THE HIPPOCAMPUS

Eliminating newborn granule neurons should logically produce impairments that are related to, but likely more limited than, those seen after lesion or inactivation of the entire hippocampus. Most studies of adult neurogenesis function, therefore, have focused on well-known hippocampusdependent tasks involving learning and memory.

#### **Trace Fear Conditioning**

The first published study directly assessing the function of adult neurogenesis showed impaired eyeblink fear conditioning in rats lacking adult neurogenesis (Shors et al. 2001). This study showed

Cameron • Glover

decreased cue responding in MAM-treated rats trained in a trace cue condition, in which there is a 500-ms interval between the end of the cue and the unconditioned stimulus, but not in a delay condition in which the shock occurred during the last 100 ms of the noise cue. A similar impairment was also found in freezing in a cued fear conditioning task with a trace interval but not in spatial maze learning, contextual fear conditioning, novel context exploration, or anxiety-like behavior in the elevated plus maze (Shors et al. 2002). Because trace fear conditioning is the most slowly learned of these tasks, these authors suggested that task difficulty might be an important determinant of the requirement for new neurons.

#### Recognition

In addition to the negatively motivated learning tasks described above, behavioral changes in animals lacking adult neurogenesis have also been found in spontaneous investigation tasks. Several studies have found deficits in social investigation tasks in mice lacking adult neurogenesis (Lagace et al. 2010, Mak & Weiss 2010). However, because of the importance of olfaction in rodent social recognition (Sanchez-Andrade & Kendrick 2009), these impairments are generally thought to reflect depletion of olfactory neurogenesis rather than hippocampal neurogenesis- -a possibility that has been demonstrated in at least some social recognition tasks (Feierstein et al. 2010). Investigation of novel objects is also altered in mice lacking adult neurogenesis, and this behavior is unlikely to rely on newborn olfactory neurons, because olfaction is controlled for in these tests by using objects with identical odors (e.g., objects built from Lego blocks) or by switching the objects during training and testing days with identical objects. Interestingly, the first study reporting a role for new neurons in novel object exploration found that mice lacking adult neurogenesis showed increased exploration of a novel object, whereas control mice of this strain showed no preference (Denny et al. 2012). This finding suggests enhanced recognition or memory over the three-minute intertrial interval in the mice lacking new neurons rather than the impairment that might be expected. A study of mice lacking NR2B-type glutamate receptors in new neurons found decreased focus on the novel object relative to the familiar one (Kheirbek et al. 2012b). These authors, however, also reported that mice with NR2B-deficient young neurons spent less time exploring the objects in the sample session, which suggests that behavior in this test may not reflect altered initial investigation rather than impaired recognition memory.

#### Spatial Memory

Spatial mapping is believed to be an important function of the hippocampus and, consistent with this idea, neurogenesis-related deficits have been observed in several spatial paradigms. Behavioral changes have been found in contextual fear conditioning, i.e., learned fear of a place where an animal has received shock, in some but not all studies. Decreased contextual fear conditioning has been demonstrated in several studies of irradiated rats (Snyder et al. 2009a, Winocur et al. 2006, Wojtowicz et al. 2008), but not in two other rat studies (Groves et al. 2013, Shors et al. 2002). Snyder et al. (2009a) found decreased contextual freezing that developed between three and four weeks after inhibition of adult neurogenesis in rats but found no effect on freezing even after eight weeks in mice. Drew et al. (2010) showed that mice do require adult neurogenesis for contextual fear conditioning, but only when the animals are given very limited training. Taken together, the evidence suggests that new neurons do play a role in contextual fear conditioning under some conditions, but the specific features of testing situations sensitive to the loss of new neurons have not been completely elucidated. One possibility is that new neurons are required when the association is made more difficult, consistent with the hypothesis of Shors et al. (2002) described above.

www.annualreviews.org • Adult Neurogenesis



Perhaps the most widely used hippocampus-dependent spatial task is the Morris water maze. In contrast to the impairments seen after hippocampal lesions, performance on standard spatial water maze training and probe trials is consistently spared in mice and rats lacking adult neurogenesis (Arruda-Carvalho et al. 2011, Ben Abdallah et al. 2013, Snyder et al. 2005, Wojtowicz et al. 2008). However, more difficult tests, for example using long delays, or more subtle behavioral analyses of strategies used to locate a previously learned spatial location, identify impairments in animals lacking new neurons in some, though not all, experiments (Ben Abdallah et al. 2013, Garthe & Kempermann 2013, Snyder et al. 2005). The Barnes maze is in many ways similar to the Morris water maze, and is often thought of as a dry version of the spatial water maze. In the Barnes maze, mice lacking adult neurogenesis are slower than normal mice to use a spatial strategy (Raber et al. 2004), consistent with findings in spatial water maze tasks (Garthe & Kempermann 2013). A decreased bias toward the correct quadrant during a probe trial has been observed in the Barnes maze (Raber et al. 2004, Wong-Goodrich et al. 2010), suggesting that this test may be more sensitive than the water maze to effects of neurogenesis. However, eliminating adult neurogenesis using pharmacogenetic methods does not appear to produce similar impairments in the Barnes maze (S.J.E. Wong-Goodrich & H.A. Cameron, unpublished results).

#### **Pattern Separation**

One idea that has recently gained dominance, based in part on computational models (Aimone et al. 2009, Becker et al. 2009, Noguès et al. 2012), is that new neurons are important for pattern separation (Agis-Balboa & Fischer 2014, Aimone & Gage 2011, Aimone et al. 2010, Deng et al. 2010, Groves et al. 2013, Sahay et al. 2011b). Kesner (2013, p. 2) has described pattern separation as "a process to remove redundancy from similar inputs so that events can be separated from each other and interference can be reduced, and in addition can produce a more orthogonal, sparse, and categorized set of outputs." Although pattern separation was initially conceived as a network process, it is widely interpreted as predicting an impairment in behavioral tasks requiring discrimination of similar events or places, in which correct and incorrect targets are nearby or similar in appearance, resulting in a high level of interference. For example, although mice and rats lacking adult neurogenesis are not consistently impaired in contextual fear conditioning, they could be impaired at discriminating between the context in which they were shocked and a similar no-shock context sharing many features of the shock context.

Impairments consistent with this definition of pattern separation have been found in several contextual discrimination studies: mice with impaired neurogenesis are slower to show differential freezing to highly similar contexts but are unimpaired when contexts are very different (Kheirbek et al. 2012a, Nakashiba et al. 2012). Conversely, mice with increased neurogenesis are quicker to demonstrate discrimination of highly similar contexts (Sahay et al. 2011a). In an immediate-shock paradigm, in which mice were first familiarized with two contexts then later shocked in only one, freezing behavior in the two contexts was less different in mice lacking adult neurogenesis than it was in controls (Niibori et al. 2012). Spatial separation effects have also been tested in a radial arm maze task, where mice lacking neurogenesis made more errors than control mice when arms were closely spaced but not when they were distant, although this difference arises in part from a change in the normal mice, which counterintuitively showed better performance on the closely spaced arms than on greater separations (Clelland et al. 2009). Using very similar radial arm maze tasks in rats lacking adult neurogenesis, two other groups have found no impairment in distinguishing between adjacent or distant maze arms (Groves et al. 2013, Piatti et al. 2014).

Several additional findings in tasks focused on memory interference can be interpreted as supporting a role in pattern separation. Although rats and mice without neurogenesis show clear

Cameron • Glover

evidence of learning a second platform location in the spatial water maze in some experiments (Groves et al. 2013, Saxe et al. 2006), two studies have identified somewhat more subtle problems in this reversal task. One of these categorized the specific strategies used on reversal trials in the Morris water maze and determined that mice lacking adult neurogenesis show diminished use of precise spatial strategies, relative to normal mice, during reversal learning but not during initial learning (Garthe et al. 2009). A second study found that in a probe trial without the platform, mice lacking adult neurogenesis search in both the original location and the new location, whereas normal mice focus much more on the newer location (Arruda-Carvalho et al. 2011). In an active place-avoidance spatial reversal task, mice lacking adult neurogenesis also showed impairment when a shock zone on a rotating platform was switched to a new location (Burghardt et al. 2012). In all of these reversal tasks, the novel memory for the initial platform location may interfere with the memory for the additional location. Distinguishing these two similar memories may be a form of behavioral pattern separation.

Additional types of interference also cause problems for rodents performing spatial and nonspatial tasks. Rats lacking neurogenesis made more errors than did controls in a cued delayed nonmatch-to-sample task after delays of several minutes but not at very short delays (Winocur et al. 2006). This time delay could increase interference from competing thoughts or memories of previous trials. Irradiated rats also made more errors in a cued water maze when a high-interference task (using similar cues), but not an uncued low-interference task, was performed for several days between training and memory testing (Winocur et al. 2012). The role of interference in impairment associated with loss of neurogenesis is also seen in a nonspatial interference task, in which rats without neurogenesis learn a list of odor pairs normally but then make more errors when learning a second list that repeats some of the same odors (Luu et al. 2012). Taken together, these studies suggest that new neurons are more likely to play a role in behavioral tasks involving greater interference, yet even tasks with apparently high levels of potential interference can often be performed without adult neurogenesis. Since it is difficult to compare interference levels across tasks, it is possible that high-interference conditions in some tasks are simply not high enough to require new neurons. Alternatively, another feature that is associated with high interference, such as difficulty, may be more important for determining the need for new neurons.

#### Nonmnemonic Tasks

In addition to the behavioral changes observed in many learning and memory tasks, the loss of adult neurogenesis alters behavior in several tasks that have no apparent memory component. One of these, described above, is the decreased exploration of objects the first time they are encountered, in mice with NR2B-deficient new neurons (Kheirbek et al. 2012b). Several possible behavioral changes could produce this effect, including decreased exploratory motivation or increased anxiety. Interestingly, spatial exploration is frequently used to assess anxiety-like behavior in tests such as the open field and elevated plus maze. However, animals without neurogenesis consistently show normal behavior in these tests, as seen in a meta-analysis of data from 25 studies (Groves et al. 2013), a finding that argues against a direct role for neurogenesis in these behaviors-despite the deficits produced in these tasks by impairing hippocampal function with drugs or lesions. Loss of adult neurogenesis does, however, affect behavior in a slightly different exploratory task, the novelty-suppressed feeding (NSF) test, if animals are stressed (Snyder et al. 2011b). This task measures the conflict between hunger, which motivates animals to eat food in the center of an open field, and the feeling of safety, which drives rodents to stay close to the walls and venture out into open spaces only briefly. Mice lacking new neurons showed normal latency to feed under baseline conditions but increased latency to feed relative to normal mice if they were acutely restrained



just before testing (Snyder et al. 2011b). The NSF test is thought to model depressive behavior as well as anxiety because it is affected by both anxiolytics and antidepressants. Antidepressants generally only alter NSF behavior when adult neurogenesis is intact (Airan et al. 2007, David et al. 2009, Santarelli et al. 2003, Wang et al. 2008), although this requirement is not seen in a highly anxious mouse strain (Holick et al. 2008). Two additional depression-related behaviors are affected by loss of adult neurogenesis. Mice lacking new neurons become immobile more quickly in a one-trial forced swim test and also drink less sucrose in a two-bottle sucrose preference task, a model of anhedonia (Snyder et al. 2011b). Taken together, these changes suggest a possible role for adult neurogenesis in limiting depressive-like behavior. The increased immobility in the stressful forced swim test and increased latency in the NSF test following restraint further suggest a role for new neurons in response to stress—a role that is supported by the prolonged stress hormone (corticosterone) response to restraint (Snyder et al. 2011b). Importantly for the current discussion, none of the changes seen in NSF test latency to feed, forced swim test immobility, novel object exploration, or glucocorticoid release following acute stress seem to rely on prior knowledge or experience. As such, effects on pattern separation or other aspects of learning and memory, as they are normally conceived, cannot readily explain these roles for new neurons. So although the loss of adult neurogenesis alters behavior in several learning and memory tasks, particularly in more difficult tasks, it also has effects in novel stressful and nonstressful situations that must be accounted for by theories of new neuron function.

## HIPPOCAMPUS-DEPENDENT BEHAVIORS WITHOUT CLEAR MEMORY COMPONENTS

If inhibiting adult neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus has behavioral effects that are independent of learning and memory, as described above, this implies that inactivation of larger populations of hippocampal neurons can also have nonmnemonic effects. Most current studies of hippocampal function employ tasks specifically designed to test various aspects of spatial or other forms of memory, so any effects can be interpreted in this light. In this section, we describe findings from experiments looking at hippocampal function using nonmnemonic tasks, primarily one-trial assessments that rely on innate behaviors and require no specific prior learning. These behavioral findings do not argue against previously described functions of the hippocampus in learning and memory, but they suggest that ideas about hippocampal function need to be broadened to include critical roles for the hippocampus in aspects of emotion, threat assessment, and attention.

#### Anxiety

Prominent behavioral effects in early studies of rats with hippocampal lesions were increased activity in a novel open field containing food, increased time eating food if food deprived, and increased consumption of water with novel flavoring (Jarrard 1968, Miller et al. 1986)—all of which are consistent with decreased anxiety. Early lesions removed the entire structure, including fibers of passage, so it is possible that these effects did not truly reflect hippocampal loss. However, later studies using more selective, fiber-sparing lesions of the ventral hippocampus also found decreased anxiety-like behavior in unconditioned exploratory tasks; these selectively lesioned animals spend more time exploring open arms of the elevated plus maze, more time exploring the center of an open field, and less time to begin feeding in a neophagia task (Bannerman et al. 2002, 2003; Deacon et al. 2002; Kjelstrup et al. 2002). Similar decreases in anxiety-like behavior in the elevated plus maze and open field have been observed in mice lacking functional *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors in dentate gyrus granule cells (Barkus et al. 2010) and in rats with ventral dentate gyrus

Cameron • Glover



lesions (Weeden 2012), suggesting that loss of functional granule neurons mimics loss of the entire hippocampus. In addition, ventral hippocampus-lesioned animals show decreased freezing behavior in response to an innate/unlearned stimulus (cat odor) as well as to a conditioned stimulus, either a cue or context previously associated with shock (Pentkowski et al. 2006, Richmond et al. 1999). These effects do not appear to involve a deficit in freezing per se, because the lesioned rats freeze normally in response to an actual cat and show other behavioral changes consistent with decreased anxiety, i.e., decreased crouching, increased sniffing, and increased rearing, in response to cat odor (Pentkowski et al. 2006). These changes in innate anxiety-like responses do not rely on memories for specific past experiences and instead point to emotional functions of the hippocampus.

Recent studies using targeted activation or inactivation of specific hippocampal inputs or neuronal populations also support a role for the hippocampus in anxiety. Optogenetic inhibition of inputs from the basolateral nucleus of the amygdala to the ventral hippocampal CA3 pyramidal cells decreases anxiety-like behavior, increasing open arm exploration in the elevated plus maze and increasing center exploration in the open field, consistent with lesion studies (Felix-Ortiz & Tye 2013). Conversely, optogenetic activation of basolateral amygdalar inputs has an anxiogenic effect, decreasing open arm and center exploration time and increasing latency to begin feeding in a novelty-suppressed feeding task. Somewhat surprisingly, a recent study found that optogenetic stimulation of granule cells in the ventral dentate gyrus has an anxiolytic-like effect on open field and elevated plus maze exploration (Kheirbek et al. 2013). This finding that massive stimulation of granule cells mimics hippocampal lesions might be explained by the strong input from granule cells to inhibitory interneurons, which can result in net inhibition of CA3 (Acsády et al. 1998).

#### **Endocrine Response to Stress**

It has been known for more than 50 years that lesioning the rodent hippocampus increases circulating glucocorticoid levels, whereas electrical stimulation has the opposite effect (Fendler et al. 1961, Knigge 1961, Slusher & Hyde 1961). Similar effects of stimulating the hippocampus have been observed in humans as well (Mandell et al. 1963, Rubin et al. 1966). Subsequent studies suggested that hippocampal lesions primarily affect the termination of the glucocorticoid response following acute stress, prolonging the recovery to baseline glucocorticoid levels (Herman et al. 1998, Jacobson & Sapolsky 1991). The hippocampus seems to play a bigger role in modulating glucocorticoid response in situations involving psychogenic or anticipatory stress, where there is only a potential threat of danger, than in responses to systemic stressors, which involve actual physical threat (Jankord & Herman 2008). This suggests that the hippocampal role in stress response may be in assessing potentially stressful situations, consistent with a role in anxiety as discussed above and below. Several studies have investigated the relationship between glucocorticoids, anxiogenic behavior, and the hippocampus. Rats bred for high-anxiety-like behaviors show decreased open arm exploration but similar glucocorticoid levels, relative to low-anxiety rats, when freely exploring an elevated plus maze. However, the glucocorticoid levels of high-anxiety rats are higher than those of low-anxiety rats when forced to sit on the open arm (Landgraf et al. 1999, Liebsch et al. 1998), suggesting that voluntary behavior may be modulated to maintain certain glucocorticoid limits, which do not differ between high-anxiety and low-anxiety rats. Damage to the hippocampus (ventral subiculum) in normal rats increases time in open arms on an elevated plus maze and also increases glucocorticoid response (Mueller et al. 2004), suggesting that the hippocampus may play a role in setting the stress/glucocorticoid tolerance level, which in turn affects willingness to engage in anxiogenic behaviors. Although this potential relationship among the hippocampus, glucocorticoids, and anxiety-like behavior is highly speculative, it is evident that

www.annualreviews.org • Adult Neurogenesis



the effects of hippocampal lesions on stress response are not secondary to learning and memory effects because they are observed on initial exposure to an environment or experience.

#### **Behavioral Inhibition**

Rats display a flexible repertoire of normal defensive behaviors that are used to collect information about, to hide from, or to escape a potential threat. The specific range of behaviors varies depending on the magnitude of the danger and the possibility for escape (Gray & McNaughton 2000, McNaughton & Corr 2004). The initial response is behavioral inhibition, that is, halting whatever behaviors were ongoing before the threat was detected. Freezing behavior, or complete immobilization, can be part of behavioral inhibition, but other risk assessment behaviors such as scanning of the environment also play a role (Blanchard et al. 1989, Gray & McNaughton 2000). After this assessment, behaviors can be adjusted to reflect the specific situation. In a confined area with no escape options, adult rats confronted by a threat such as a cat show complete cessation of movement, i.e., freezing, which is unaffected by hippocampal lesions, but when an escape path is available, lesioned animals display enhanced avoidance compared to controls (Blanchard & Blanchard 1972, Pentkowski et al. 2006). When exposed to cat odor, instead of a cat, hippocampal-lesioned rats freeze less than controls. Together these findings suggest that loss of the hippocampus leads to more active responses to potentially threatening situations unless there is a clear, unavoidable threat. This effect may be related to the increased exploration seen in the less threatening environment of a novel open field in hippocampus-lesioned rats and in mice during optogenetic stimulation of the granule cells (Kheirbek et al. 2013).

During development, preweanling rat pups freeze when placed in a cage with a potential predator, an unfamiliar adult male rat (Takahashi 1992). Injection of glucocorticoids into the dorsal dentate gyrus accelerates the maturation of the granule neurons and facilitates this behavioral inhibition response (Gould et al. 1991, Takahashi 1995). Conversely, dorsal dentate gyrus lesions and drugs that disrupt normal maturation of the dentate gyrus inhibit this freezing response (Gould & Cameron 1997, Takahashi 1995). These studies indicate that the hippocampus is critical for behavioral inhibition in response to innate predators in both young and adult rats and, interestingly, demonstrate an effect of stress hormones on development of this behavior.

In addition to its role in defensive situations, a form of behavioral inhibition is also seen in learning situations, in which incorrect responses must be suppressed while correct responses are allowed. This positively motivated form of behavioral inhibition is also hippocampus dependent. Lesions of the ventral hippocampus or disconnection from the ventral prefrontal cortex increase impulsive responses, in which rats press touchscreen icons prematurely, as well as perseverative responses, in which rats press multiple times when only the first press is needed to trigger a reward (Abela & Chudasama 2013, Chudasama et al. 2012). The animals' correct responses demonstrate that they have learned the associations, but they appear less able to withhold responses at times when responses are ineffective.

The hippocampus, then, appears to increase inhibition of prepotent, i.e., ongoing or habitual, behavior in both aversive and rewarded situations. It is important to note that this inhibition results in freezing, or complete cessation of behavior, in some situations, but in other situations stops only specific ongoing behaviors, enabling alternative and potentially more adaptive behaviors to emerge.

#### **Orienting and Attention Shifting**

Although the hippocampus is rarely included in models of attention circuits, several rodent studies demonstrate that hippocampal damage affects attention to simple stimuli. Rats with hippocampal

32.10 Cameron • Glover

lesions fail to orient toward a novel clicking noise, as do normal controls, when they are focused on drinking water. However, hippocampal-lesioned rats orient normally if they are exploring an empty arena, a finding that suggests that the change in behavior reflects a failure to shift attention to a novel stimulus rather than a sensory impairment (Hendrickson et al. 1969). Likewise, hippocampus-lesioned rats trained to seek a reward at the end of a linear runway fail to slow their running speed to attend to novel visual cues on the walls, whereas controls significantly reduce their speeds in response to the visual distractors (Raphelson et al. 1965). This altered investigation of novel cues may play a role in the decreased novel object exploration found in the NR2B-knockout mice (Kheirbek et al. 2012b) and the decreased investigation associated with pattern separation errors in humans (Molitor et al. 2014), both described above. In another study of attention shifting, rats were presented with light-tone cue pairs. When presented with both light options following a tone cue, normal rats looked at the light that was inconsistent with the presented tone. However, rats with hippocampal lesions oriented toward the expected light cue. This does not appear to reflect a learning deficit, because rats that failed to learn the associations should show no preference between the cues. Instead, these results suggest that the hippocampal damage altered the animals' attention preference (Honey & Good 2000). This finding is consistent with Simonov's idea, described below, that the hippocampus focuses attention on low-probability events (Simonov 1974).

A recent study of visual search strategy in humans found that participants with hippocampal damage explored novel scenes to look for hidden targets in a disorganized manner, whereas normal control subjects showed highly systematic exploration. Interestingly, these hippocampal-damaged subjects were able to successfully retain and retrieve information about object location; despite the impaired search strategy, there was no group difference in the ability to head directly back to the starting point (Yee et al. 2014). Together, these studies suggest that the hippocampus organizes visual search strategy and enhances attention to novel or unexpected stimuli. In some cases, these unexpected stimuli may act as potential threat cues (e.g., the noise in the Hendrickson et al. experiments). However, in other examples described here, there does not appear to be any potential threat, which suggests that these attention changes may be independent of negative emotion.

#### Innate Fear Response in Nonhuman Primates

The role of the hippocampus in contextual fear conditioning is widely known, but the hippocampus also alters response to innate fear. This is shown clearly in an approach/avoidance conflict test in macaque monkeys with excitotoxic lesions (Chudasama et al. 2008, 2009). In this task, monkeys were required to reach over a clear plastic box containing a rubber snake, a rubber spider, or a neutral object in order to retrieve a food reward. In unoperated control monkeys, food retrieval was six times slower on snake/spider trials than on neutral trials. Control monkeys also spent less time approaching the snake/spider than the neutral objects and displayed many more defensive behaviors, such as avoiding visual contact, in the presence of the snake/spider. Upon first presentation of the snake/spider stimulus, monkeys with hippocampal lesions behaved much like controls (Chudasama et al. 2009, Machado et al. 2009). However, on subsequent presentations of the fearful stimulus, monkeys with hippocampal lesions showed latencies similar to those in the neutral condition and displayed very few innate fear responses, whereas the behavior of control monkeys changed very little from the initial presentation. Interestingly, although food retrieval latency was similar in monkeys with hippocampal and amygdala lesions, monkeys with amygdala lesions spent a significant amount of time looking directly at the snake/spider, whereas animals with hippocampal lesions showed no clear interest in the snake/spider, which suggests that the hippocampal lesions

www.annualreviews.org • Adult Neurogenesis



diminished emotional reactivity, diminished interest or arousal, and/or decreased attention toward the innately fearful stimuli. The behavioral changes shown by these monkeys point to connections between the other hippocampus-dependent behaviors described above in rodents; the monkeys' responses are consistent with decreased anxiety, decreased behavioral inhibition, and decreased attention to arousing stimuli.

Orienting toward an unknown stimulus is a first step in identifying and assessing a potential threat, and behavioral inhibition also allows for further assessment of danger. With hippocampal damage, anxiety and behavioral inhibition are decreased, and behaviors ongoing before the potential threat (prepotent behaviors) are maintained. Although hippocampal regulation of gluco-corticoid release is not a behavioral function, it is also related to threat assessment because it occurs in response to psychogenic stress, or the perception of potential danger. All of these hippocampal functions could be characterized as regulating emotion in response to a potential threat and occur without reference to specific memories for prior experience. That is, these findings indicate that the hippocampus has emotional roles that do not rely on memory, in addition to any roles in learning and memory.

#### ALTERNATIVE IDEAS ABOUT HIPPOCAMPAL FUNCTION

It is widely accepted that the function of the hippocampus is to support memory and/or spatial maps (Eichenbaum & Cohen 2014). There are lively discussions and differences of opinion regarding its importance in spatial versus nonspatial memory; long-term, short-term, and/or working memory; memory acquisition, consolidation, or retrieval, etc., but few disagree with the general principle that the hippocampus is primarily a mnemonic machine. This has not always been the case (Altman et al. 1973, Amsel 1993, Woodruff et al. 1975). Early thinking about hippocampal function centered on various roles in emotion. The idea that the hippocampus plays a critical role in emotion continues to appear only sporadically in current thinking (Bannerman et al. 2014), but it may be critical for understanding behavioral changes found in animals lacking adult neurogenesis. In this section, we discuss the hippocampus-dependent behaviors described in the broader context of nonmnemonic theories of hippocampal function that have been proposed over the past 80 years.

#### Emotion

In one of the oldest systematic theories of hippocampal function, Papez (1937) proposed that it is the key structure in a circuit responsible for the control and expression of emotion. He argued, based primarily on the symptoms and neuropathology of rabies in humans, that emotions are generated within the hippocampus and then relayed through a circuit containing the mammillary bodies, anterior thalamic nuclei, anterior cingulate gyrus, parahippocampal gyrus, and then back to the hippocampus. Although the anatomical connections of the Papez circuit are not in dispute, the amygdala, rather than the hippocampus, is now widely considered the central hub for emotionality (Dalgleish 2004). Nevertheless, the view of the hippocampus as a critical structure for emotion fits with the well-characterized effects of hippocampal lesions on anxiety described briefly above and in more detail in a recent review (Bannerman et al. 2014).

Although both fear and anxiety elicit emotional responses, there is a conceptual difference between the two states that relates to differences in the circuitry controlling them (McHugh et al. 2004). Fear can be thought of as the emotion generated when an adverse event is imminent, whereas anxiety is generated when the *potential* for threat is present (Bannerman et al. 2004, McNaughton & Corr 2004). According to this distinction, fear is processed in the amygdala, and anxiety is processed in the hippocampus (Bannerman et al. 2004, McHugh et al. 2004, McNaughton & Corr

Cameron • Glover

2004). When fear is elicited, animals will rapidly try to leave the threatening situations or, if this is not possible, attempt to protect themselves in some other way, e.g., attacking or freezing. In the case of anxiety, however, rodents normally display risk-assessment behaviors, often characterized as anxiety-like behaviors, to gather more information about the potential threat (Blanchard et al. 2011, Lever et al. 2006, McHugh et al. 2004).

Interestingly, animals lacking adult neurogenesis, unlike their hippocampal-lesioned counterparts, do not generally show decreased anxiety-like behavior. The classic tests of unconditioned anxiety, the open field test and elevated plus maze, have been examined in multiple studies of both rats and mice lacking adult neurogenesis. A meta-analysis of these data convincingly shows that loss of new neurons has no consistent effect on either task (Groves et al. 2013). No stressinduced changes in these tests were observed in mice lacking new neurons either, despite the effects on novelty-suppressed feeding (Snyder et al. 2011b). It should, perhaps, not be surprising that eliminating a subset of neurons in one region of the hippocampus would have fewer behavioral effects than removing the entire structure. Mature granule cells, for example, may be sufficient for generating anxiety, or these behaviors may require only the hippocampus proper and not the dentate gyrus. Comparing hippocampal functions with roles of new neurons specifically should provide valuable clues to how different hippocampal subregions work together to produce specific behavioral outcomes.

Consistent with the role in emotion suggested by Papez, the hippocampus has important interactions with the stress response system. Stress is produced by conditions that put a high demand on an individual, particularly in unpredictable or uncontrollable situations (Koolhaas et al. 2011). Stress produces a neuroendocrine cascade via the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis. Corticotrophin-releasing hormone produced by the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus stimulates the release of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) by the anterior pituitary gland. ACTH then triggers the adrenal glands to synthesize and release glucocorticoid stress hormones, including cortisol, the primary glucocorticoid in humans, and corticosterone, the primary glucocorticoid in rodents (Jankord & Herman 2008, Ulrich-Lai & Herman 2009). Regulation at all of these levels acts to tightly control the output of glucocorticoids, which affect not only the brain but also systems throughout the body, including the immune and cardiovascular systems (McEwen 1998). Recognizing and preparing for adverse situations is clearly advantageous, but dysregulation of the stress-response system is associated with mood disorders and other psychiatric illnesses. As described above, lesions or inactivation of the hippocampus increase corticosterone and ACTH levels, whereas electrophysiological stimulation of the hippocampus decreases corticosterone levels (Jankord & Herman 2008). These effects suggest that the hippocampus adds another layer of regulation to the HPA axis (Jacobson & Sapolsky 1991, McEwen et al. 1968, Sapolsky et al. 1984). The hippocampus has a very high density of receptors for stress hormones, enabling it to directly detect systemic glucocorticoid levels (Gerlach & McEwen 1972, McEwen et al. 1968).

Stress and glucocorticoids have effects on hippocampus-dependent behaviors and hippocampal structure that are clear but complex and not fully understood. In rodent models, chronic stress, acting through glucocorticoids, also alters the structure of the hippocampus by inhibiting adult neurogenesis, decreasing the length of the CA3 pyramidal cell dendrites, and decreasing the volume of the hippocampus. Decreased hippocampal volume has been reported in humans following high-dose glucocorticoid therapy, chronic stress, or posttraumatic stress disorder (Bremner et al. 2008, Gianaros et al. 2007, Sapolsky 2000). Chronic stress affects hippocampus-dependent spatial behavior in rodents, decreasing spontaneous alternation in the Y-maze and facilitating contextual fear conditioning in ways that appear consistent with the negative impact of chronic stress on hippocampal structure. The stressor-induced changes in dendritic shrinkage follow the same



time course as the behavioral changes, and tianeptine treatment, which prevents the dendritic retraction, also prevents the spatial memory changes associated with stress (Conrad 2006).

However, as discussed by Conrad (2006), stress-induced changes in spatial memory and hippocampal structure do not always go hand in hand. For example, although tianeptine blocks both stress-induced CA3 dendritic atrophy and spatial memory impairment, it does not prevent facilitation of contextual fear conditioning. Furthermore, chronic injection of corticosterone mimics the effects of chronic stress on CA3 dendritic atrophy but does not consistently impair spatial memory. This latter finding provides an important clue to the relationship between hippocampal structural changes and spatial memory (Conrad 2006). Following chronic stress, Conrad and colleagues gave rats metyrapone, which prevents stress-induced release of glucocorticoids, just before testing the animals in the Y-maze. Stressed animals that were not given metyrapone showed the expected impairment in Y-maze alternation, but when corticosterone release was blocked, rats showed normal alternation, identical to unstressed controls. This finding suggests that chronic stress, acting via structural changes in the hippocampus, affects spatial behavior by altering HPA axis response during behavioral testing. And in fact, chronically stressed rats do show higher corticosterone release than unstressed rats show during novel testing situations. Rats treated chronically with corticosterone do not show this stronger corticosterone response. This seems paradoxical at first, because stress causes corticosterone release. However, although both endogenous and exogenous corticosterone lead to dendritic atrophy, chronic activation of the HPA axis results in enlargement of the adrenals and enhanced glucocorticoid response to future stress, whereas exogenous corticosterone activates only the negative feedback portion of the HPA axis, resulting in adrenal atrophy and diminished response to future stress (Conrad 2006). Hippocampal changes cannot increase corticosterone release if the downstream portion of the HPA axis is atrophied.

The effects described above develop only after chronic stress, but acute stress alters behavior and neurogenesis as well. Glucocorticoids are released rapidly in response to novel or arousing situations, with increased serum levels detectable within five minutes. However, the high-affinity corticosteroid receptors have relatively slow effects requiring gene transcription, and the rapid nongenomic effects are mediated by low-affinity receptors that require near-peak levels of corticosteroids, which are slower to appear (de Kloet et al. 2008). Therefore, most corticosterone effects on brain function will occur several minutes to hours after the stressful triggering event rather than in the critical first few minutes after a threat is detected. These slow effects, as well as the morphological and anatomical effects of corticosterone that occur with an even more prolonged time course, suggest that the most important role of glucocorticoids in the brain may be to affect future behavior. It follows, then, that effects of stress on the hippocampus may function to facilitate adaptation to adverse, or at least challenging, conditions over the course of days to weeks. Failure to adjust behavior to newly adverse conditions, and failure to reassess and readapt behavior if conditions improve, could both have negative consequences for an organism.

A role for the hippocampus in stress response fits well with recent findings on the function of adult neurogenesis. Acute stress has no effect on NSF behavior in normal mice, but it increases latency to feed, an anxiety/depressive-like behavior, in mice without adult neurogenesis. New neurons, therefore, appear to buffer mice against the behavioral effects of the stressful experience (Snyder et al. 2011b). New neurons also mediate antidepressant-induced reversal of reward seeking following chronic stress (Surget et al. 2011). Without prior stress, mice lacking new neurons show increased depressive-like behavior in a forced-swim test (Snyder et al. 2011b). Because this test is itself stressful, that is, it poses an apparent unavoidable threat to the animals, it may be that testing stress acts in place of restraint stress in this experiment. These findings suggest that new neurons play a role in regulating behavioral responses to stress, consistent with a role for the hippocampus as a whole in stress adaptation. More work is needed, however, to determine

Cameron • Glover

specifically how new neurons alter behavioral responses and whether dysregulation of neurogenesis produces maladaptive effects in more realistic situations.

#### **Orienting and Behavioral Inhibition**

A recent study in humans suggests that errors in pattern separation may be related to attention (Molitor et al. 2014). Earlier functional imaging studies linked responses to lures (visual items that are novel but similar to previously seen items) to the hippocampus, specifically the CA3/dentate gyrus region (Bakker et al. 2008). Molitor and colleagues (2014) focused on behavior associated with pattern separation errors, defined as responding to lures as if they were previously seen (presumably mistaking them for the similar items). They found that this type of error was associated with less time looking at the initial studied item, which suggests that the pattern separation error resulted from changes in attention and initial encoding rather than differential degradation of memory. A role for the hippocampus in driving attention was recognized many years ago. Pribram & McGuinness (1975) suggested that the hippocampus acts as a comparator, detecting uncertainty or conflict relative to expectations and regulating arousal and attention in response. In the presence of a novel stimulus, an animal initially displays an orienting response, which aids in collecting information to assess this unexpected event. In the absence of any reward, repeated encounters with the stimulus update expectations such that the stimulus will no longer drive an orienting response. Monkeys with hippocampal lesions fail to show this type of habituation; they continue to be distracted by irrelevant cues long after the distractors have ceased to slow responses in control monkeys (Douglas & Pribram 1969).

Pribram and colleagues' findings seem inconsistent with data from orienting studies indicating that hippocampal damage decreases, rather than increases, distractibility. As described above, rats with hippocampal lesions fail to show normal orienting responses toward novel visual or auditory stimuli in several different tasks (Hendrickson et al. 1969, Honey & Good 2000, Raphelson et al. 1965, Wickelgren & Isaacson 1963). This apparent contradiction could reflect the different aspects of mismatch detection targeted by the different experiments. Douglas & Pribram (1969) focused on habituation of responses to meaningless stimuli presented during learning of rewarded stimuli, whereas the orienting studies focused on the initial responses to the unexpected stimulus after other associations or behaviors had been well learned. All of the studies, then, seem consistent with increased focus on prepotent behaviors and decreased updating of attention processes in animals with hippocampal damage. Another possibility is that the difference is due to the valence of the stimuli. In the Douglas & Pribram (1969) study, the distracting stimuli were similar to cues that predicted rewards, so the monkeys might expect these cues to predict reward and certainly had no reason to find the cues aversive. In the orienting tests, however, the unexpected noises or flashing lights might suggest a potential threat. Perhaps the hippocampus drives attention toward stimuli that could predict a threat and away from stimuli that are neither threatening nor rewarding. Studies directly investigating the role of the hippocampus in response to innately fearful stimuli seem consistent with this idea (Chudasama et al. 2008, 2009; Machado & Bachevalier 2008). Normal monkeys presented with rubber snakes or spiders in front of a food reward showed several fear behaviors while focusing their attention on the snake/spider. Monkeys with amygdala lesions showed little fear but maintained a great deal of interest in the snake/spider. Hippocampal lesions, however, eliminated both the fear behavior and the visual attention toward the snake/spider. Interestingly, hippocampus-lesioned monkeys showed normal levels of attention and defensive behaviors during their first trial with the spider or snake but then showed little interest or fear on subsequent trials, suggesting that they habituated to the fearful stimulus very quickly relative to normal monkeys. This rapid habituation and low level of attention paid to the fearful stimulus,



which was essentially a distractor from the food-grasping task, parallels the effects of hippocampal lesion in the orienting studies (Hendrickson et al. 1969, Honey & Good 2000, Raphelson et al. 1965, Wickelgren & Isaacson 1963) and differs from those in the neutral stimulus learning experiments (Douglas & Pribram 1969). The possibility that the hippocampus helps to drive and maintain attention toward threatening cues and away from neutral cues adds an emotional element to the role in attention, consistent with the emotional functions described above.

Wickelgren & Isaacson (1963) pointed out that the failure of hippocampus-lesioned rats to stop and investigate a novel cue could reflect a failure to notice the stimulus or a failure to stop running toward the goal despite registering the novel stimulus. This latter interpretation fits with another once-common idea that a primary function of the hippocampus is "braking" or inhibiting ongoing behaviors (Altman et al. 1973, Douglas 1967, Gray & McNaughton 2000, Silveira & Kimble 1968). This inhibition is often observed in response to threatening cues. When this system is engaged, it increases attention/vigilance and risk-assessment behaviors while inhibiting behaviors that were occurring prior to the threat (Gray & McNaughton 2000). The dentate gyrus-dependent freezing behavior observed in pups placed near an anesthetized adult male rat is a classic example of this threat-induced behavioral inhibition (Takahashi 1995, 1996). The decreased behavioral inhibition in response to novel and potentially threatening situations can cause hippocampuslesioned animals to appear reckless or hyperactive in some situations. These behaviors led Altman and colleagues (1973) to suggest that the late development of the hippocampus may be responsible for the maturation of behavior from erratic and reckless in juveniles to more observant and cautious in adults, although clearly even preweanling pups show behavioral inhibition under the right circumstances. The cautious behavior produced by behavioral inhibition is clearly adaptive, as it should tend to prevent animals from running headlong into potentially dangerous situations and enable animals to gather information to assess the situation.

Hippocampal lesions produce impairments in what could also be called behavioral inhibition in nonthreatening, reward-mediated learning tasks as well. In these situations, braking serves to slow or inhibit responses that have been previously conditioned when reward decreases or is ambiguous. Inhibition of prepotent behavior in these situations does not serve to protect the animal from harm but rather allows the animal to change its current course of action and seek out alternatives to try to maximize reward. Animals with hippocampal lesions tend to maintain the responses they are initially biased toward, through innate preference or prior conditioning, longer than control animals and therefore fail to maximize rewards. This was shown by Isaacson & Kimble (1972), who found that in a Y-maze, naïve rats generally begin the task with an innate tendency to approach the dark, rather than the light, arm and also with an inclination to form a position hypothesis-that is, to seek rewards in the same place rather than in the arm of the same color. Depending on the rules of the task set by the experimenter, these biases will either lead to correct responses or must be overcome to produce maximal rewards. Rats with hippocampal lesions held onto "hypotheses," such as a position hypothesis leading the animal to consistently choose the left arm of the maze, longer than did control animals. In some cases, their initial hypotheses happened to be correct, and performance was as good as, or better than, that of controls. A related effect has been seen in several other studies, in which prior experience on tasks that are different but share the same general rules can benefit rats with lesion or inactivation of the hippocampus (Bannerman et al. 1995, Beylin et al. 2001, Saucier & Cain 1995). However, when a rat's initial hypothesis was incorrect, choosing the left arm when the white arm is always rewarded regardless of position, for example, animals with hippocampal lesions persisted longer in their original choices and did poorly on the task, failing to update their hypothesis. These findings suggest that activation of the hippocampus may increase behavioral flexibility in order to maximize reward, whereas inhibition of the hippocampus might be expected to maximize persistence in the face of partial reward.

32.16 Cameron • Glover

Hypothesis updating in response to low probability of reward, as observed by Isaacson & Kimble (1972), is consistent with Simonov's idea that the hippocampus shifts attentional demands to events that have a low probability of occurrence (Pigareva & Preobrazhenskaya 1991, Simonov 1974). Similarly, stimulus pairs that are inconsistent based on prior learning, which by definition have a lower probability of occurrence than repeatedly paired stimuli, are attended to (preferred) by normal rats, whereas hippocampus-lesioned rats attend to the expected stimulus, i.e., the one with the higher probability of occurrence (Honey & Good 2000). Interestingly, rats with hippocampal lesions show normal behavior, maximizing reward when choosing between a large reward with low probability of occurrence and a small reward with a high probability of occurrence (Abela & Chudasama 2013). This seems somewhat counter to the idea that hippocampal damage impairs attention to low-probability events, but since the probabilities were well established by extensive training, it may be that the hippocampus plays a role in low-probability unpredictable events but is not necessary for predictable low probabilities.

A related body of work suggests that the hippocampus is important in driving response to a decrease or delay of an expected reward. Recent work has shown that rats with hippocampal lesions choose rapidly received small rewards over larger delayed rewards (reviewed in Abela & Chudasama 2013). These animals do choose the high reward options when delays are similar, however, which suggests that learning and memory for the reward association and the preference for large rewards are not affected. Several older studies deal with behavioral responses during the extinction phase of reward learning, when rewards are not just delayed but are absent. It has long been known that behavioral extinction occurs more slowly after training with partial reinforcement than with continual reinforcement, the so-called partial reinforcement extinction effect (PREE) (Amsel 1990). Studies of this effect compare different reward schedules during learning, generally in a runway task, in which the speed of running toward a potential reward is measured, or in an operant conditioning task, in which lever pressing for rewards is assessed. The PREE is somewhat paradoxical from a learning standpoint because partial reinforcement leads to stronger resistance to extinction even though it should produce a weaker association between the action and the reward given that it uses fewer response-reward pairings than does continuous reinforcement (Amsel 1992). Instead of reflecting stronger learning, then, this increased resistance to extinction is thought to reflect an emotional component that is activated when the expected reward is absent. This emotional response to the lack of an expected reward has been called frustration or disappointment (Amsel 1958, Levine et al. 1972). That the PREE effect critically involves emotion is supported by findings that glucocorticoid levels rapidly increase following smaller-than-expected rewards and, conversely, rapidly decrease following greater-than-expected rewards (Levine et al. 1972). Extinction also leads to other apparent emotional responses including aggressive behavior toward other rats or toward the lever (Levine et al. 1972).

Both lesions of the hippocampus and depletion of the granule cell population (via early postnatal brain irradiation) eliminate the PREE (Coover et al. 1971, Rawlins et al. 1980). Interestingly, animals with hippocampal damage show slower extinction than do controls following continuous reinforcement training but more rapid extinction than controls following partial reinforcement. Although the tasks used to study the PREE are learning tasks, the role of the hippocampus does not appear to be on learning per se; hippocampal lesions have no effect in the training/learning phase of the experiments, and, importantly, behavior is unaffected by lesions on a similar learning task when reward and nonreward days alternate (Amsel 1990). Hippocampal lesions do, however, prevent the increased glucocorticoid release normally seen in response to unexpected nonreward (Levine et al. 1972). These findings suggest that the hippocampal role in this task is related to emotion, specifically, in generating frustration when expected rewards are not received (Coover et al. 1971). Taken together, these studies suggest that the hippocampus may play a role in emotional response



to outcomes relative to expectations and in this way may help set the balance between persisting in a particular behavior or strategy and switching to alternate behaviors in the face of changing stimuli.

#### Prediction

One recently proposed idea is that the central role of the hippocampus is not in remembering the past but instead in predicting the outcome of future events (Buckner 2010, Mullally & Maguire 2013). Buckner points out that memory, the commonly accepted function of the hippocampus, exists primarily to improve future behavior or decision making, and, as such, memory and prediction may be strongly connected and difficult to separate in many studies. This is a particular problem in animal studies, because animals cannot be asked to imagine the future. Most behaviors that rely on predictions also rely on previous learning and memory, just as most real-world predictions utilize memories and previously learned associations. The hippocampus, in this view, uses memory of past experience but is primarily concerned with flexibly recombining these memories to imagine or predict possible outcomes and optimize future behavior.

Support for this idea comes from rodent studies of hippocampal place cells as well as from human imaging studies. Hippocampal place cells are neurons—generally pyramidal neurons but also granule neurons—that fire when the rat is in a particular location of a testing arena. The existence of these cells, which show stable place fields over time, has long been viewed as an indication that the function of the hippocampus is to maintain spatial maps to guide navigation (O'Keefe & Nadel 1978). As animals move along a runway, place cells fire in sequences that can be observed at later time points, during rest or sleep, leading to the interpretation that these replay events reflect consolidation of the memory for the experience in the runway (Carr et al. 2011, Dragoi & Tonegawa 2011). However, recent studies have found that place cell firing sequences recorded during rest can be observed several minutes later when animals are traversing a novel track (Dragoi & Tonegawa 2011, 2013). This "preplay" cannot reflect memory for the spaces that the animals have not yet encountered, but it seems to predict later activity in a way that is reminiscent of imagination in human studies (Mullally & Maguire 2013).

This possibility is addressed more directly by studies of hippocampal network activity during decision making. To investigate this process, animals are run in more complex mazes including choice points at which the animal must make a decision of which direction to head in order to reach a reward. When rats are tested in a multiple-choice-point T-maze, place cell ensemble activity "flows" down each arm, often ahead of the animal's current position (Johnson & Redish 2007), suggesting that the animals may be imagining the outcome of each arm choice. This possibility is strengthened by recent findings that place cell firing sequences are predominant during the early stages of learning and predict immediate future behavior in an open field with multiple start and goal locations (Pfeiffer & Foster 2013, Singer et al. 2013). These findings provide evidence at the level of neuronal activity that fits with behavior seen in rodents at choice points, namely vicarious trial and error (VTE). VTE behavior is defined as looking back and forth at different potential routes before making a choice. More of this behavior is seen during a difficult discrimination, in the early stages of learning, and when there is a price to be paid for making the incorrect choice, such as on apparatus with a gap that must be jumped to return to the choice point (Tolman 1938). Increased VTE behavior is correlated with faster learning, and, conversely, damage to the hippocampus decreases VTE behavior and impairs learning on tasks in which VTE behavior is normally displayed (Bett et al. 2012, Hu & Amsel 1995, Tolman 1938). VTE appears to reflect hippocampus-dependent prediction and evaluation of future outcomes that occurs when animals are uncertain about a decision (Schmidt et al. 2013).

32.18 Cameron • Glover

In humans, functional magnetic resonance imaging studies suggest that the hippocampus is strongly activated by episodic memory retrieval but is activated to an even greater degree when imagining the future than remembering the past (Addis & Schacter 2011, Buckner 2010). Because memories are used for constructing imaginary events, and because imagined events (and the experience of imagining them) likely are then stored in memory for future use, imagining and remembering are almost intractably intertwined and at the very least difficult to separate in an experimental paradigm. However, a recent study has attempted to disentangle these processes by comparing imagination of novel future events with "reimagination" of events imagined the previous day (Gaesser et al. 2013). Investigators found that when future events were constructed for the first time, the posterior hippocampus, which is homologous to the rodent dorsal hippocampus, of the left hemisphere was activated relative to the reimagination condition. This finding, along with an earlier study from this group (Martin et al. 2011), suggests that the posterior hippocampus in humans is important for constructing imagined future events, whereas the anterior region may be important for encoding these imagined events. Taken together, both human and rodent studies. using very different methodology, support the possibility that a key function of the hippocampus is in predicting the outcomes of potential actions, based on flexible recombination of prior experience, in order to improve on trial-and-error learning through mental testing of various options.

The view of the hippocampus as a key structure in a system that makes predictions about upcoming events brings together aspects of several other views of hippocampal function, including learning and memory and hypothesis testing. However, imagination and prediction as described above, and by Buckner (2010), do not have any obvious emotional component and so do not appear at first glance to fit with this aspect of hippocampal function. However, studies of emotion in rats many years ago suggested a direct link between prediction and emotion—and proposed a specific role for the hippocampus as well. Simonov's (1991) "need-informational theory of emotions" posits that emotions are determined by a need and by the prediction of the likelihood of its satisfaction: A low probability of goal achievement produces negative emotions, and a high or increased probability of satisfaction leads to positive emotions. The role of the hippocampus in predicting satisfaction of a need, according to Simonov, is in directing attention toward low-probability events. He says of rats with hippocampal damage that it "is not possible to speak of a general memory defect" but instead that their behavior "is no longer complicated by predictions of events unlikely to happen in a given situation" (Simonov 1974, p. 35) so that they behave like "living automata without hesitation and doubt" (Simonov 1991, p. 106).

Emotions may not only be generated by predictions, they may also feed into predictions in the form of cognitive bias. Predictions and decisions are not made solely on the basis of memories and factual observations but rather are influenced, or biased, by emotional states. Stress, anxiety, and depression elicit a negative bias that affects how people interpret perceptions, especially ambiguous threatening cues, and tends to augment the remembrance of negative as opposed to positive events or details (Clark & Beck 2010). The same appears to be true in animal models of these states. When rats are trained to associate one tone with a lever that signals reward and a second tone with a lever that must be pressed to avoid shock, intermediate tones produce mixed responses. Rats genetically bred to show learned helplessness, a depression-like phenotype, show normal behavior in response to the trained tones but respond to the intermediate tones with more presses of the lever signaling shock compared with controls (Enkel et al. 2010). The same is true in standard lab rats acutely treated with corticosterone and the noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor reboxetine. In this experiment, neuronal activation was also greater in the dentate gyrus and amygdala of treated rats than of controls, a finding that suggests roles for these brain regions in this behavior. In another test, mice lacking the serotonin 1A receptor show normal behavior toward a cue that



predicts a shock but show increased anxiety-like behavior toward a cue that ambiguously predicts the shock (Tsetsenis et al. 2007). When the dentate gyrus granule cells are silenced, this effect is eliminated, which suggests that this part of the hippocampus is critical for the increased responding to the ambiguous cue. Together, these findings suggest a possible role for the hippocampus in emotionally biasing predictions and behavioral decisions. An overactive hippocampus may increase negative bias inappropriately, altering decision making in the face of novelty or even the mildest potential threats, resulting in anxiety (Gray & McNaughton 2000).

Another bias that is introduced into this loop of decisions and predictions is attentional bias. It is well documented that people with anxiety disorders show enhanced threat detection, persistently pay more attention to these stimuli, and show a bias in threat appraisal (Britton et al. 2011). Although the role of the hippocampus in this attention bias is not clear, such a role does seem consistent with hippocampal function in orienting, attention, and persistence, as discussed above.

The evidence that the hippocampus plays a role in prediction is strong, but as the discussion above alludes to, there are several different steps in prediction, and it is not clear which are most likely to involve the hippocampus. The hippocampus could participate in selecting relevant knowledge from which to form predictions, flexibly recombining selected knowledge to imagine potential outcomes, estimating the probability of various outcomes, and/or weighing the outcomes to choose the optimal course of action. Selecting relevant memories from which to form predictions appears closely related to the accepted role of the hippocampus in memory retrieval. The idea of a hippocampal requirement for flexible use of memory also seems to fit with this prediction step, because memories could be selected using a wider or more flexible net, leading to increased imagination or creativity, or with a narrower rule regarding what applies to the current situation. Weighing the various outcomes seems closely related to Gray & McNaughton's (2000) view that the hippocampus functions to choose between competing goals.

The hippocampus could also function to inject emotional bias at one or more of these steps, instead of, or in addition to, the formation of predictions per se. Different portions of the hippocampus could potentially be involved in the cognitive and emotional aspects of prediction, with, for example, the dorsal hippocampus mediating cognitive aspects of prediction and the ventral hippocampus providing emotional bias. Emotional biases may affect the prediction process at many levels, by biasing the choice of memories selected for making predictions, judgments about the probability of each outcome of a given action, and the choice of action based on predicted outcomes. If indeed emotions bias predictions and, as Simonov suggested, predictions generate emotions, then emotions and predictions appear to form a feed-forward loop whereby predictions of failure could lead to negative emotions, which then negatively bias future predictions, and so on. If the hippocampus is important for either of these pieces of the loop, this could provide a possible link between the hippocampus, and/or adult neurogenesis, and depressive illness.

# CONCLUSIONS

The hippocampus is almost universally viewed as functioning primarily in learning and memory. Because of this function, recent research on the behavioral role of adult neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus has focused on mnemonic tasks and has suggested a role for the new neurons in accurate recall when stimuli are highly similar or when the delay between training and testing is prolonged. However, animals lacking adult neurogenesis also show altered behavior in tests that do not require specific prior knowledge and therefore seem inconsistent with an interpretation relying on pattern separation or other aspects of memory. These nonmnemonic behavioral changes argue for one or more of the alternative functions of the hippocampus that have been proposed over the past 75 years in emotion, attention, and prediction. Traditional roles in learning/memory and these alternative

Cameron • Glover



roles for the dentate gyrus and hippocampus might be reconciled in at least two ways. First, all of the observed behavioral effects in animals lacking adult neurogenesis or a functional hippocampus might be produced by an underlying, fundamental cognitive, emotional, or behavioral change that is critical to all impaired tasks. Although some behavioral changes cannot be explained in terms of learning and memory deficits, impairments in many learning and memory tasks could potentially result from emotional or other behavioral changes. Many behavioral tasks that are thought of as testing cognitive function also have hidden or not-so-hidden stressful and/or emotional aspects. And all learning and memory tasks require many processes in addition to learning and memory, including, for example, attention to cues, motivation, decision making, and motor responses. Some of these, such as motor responses, can be readily controlled for and unlikely to involve the hippocampus, but other cognitive and behavioral changes may be very difficult to control for in learning tasks. It is at least possible, then, that a hippocampal role in a fundamental process such as attention or cognitive bias could alter behavior in a wide variety of learning and memory tasks—a possibility that is hinted at by at least one recent study (Molitor et al. 2014).

Alternatively, the hippocampus might have multiple functions that utilize the processing made possible by hippocampal networks but are otherwise independent and/or unrelated. These different functions do not have to be performed by the same cells within the hippocampus. Although the hippocampus appears to be a single structure, there is considerable evidence that the dorsal and ventral portions (or primate anterior and posterior portions) of the hippocampus are functionally distinct (Barkus et al. 2010, Fanselow & Dong 2010). There is growing support for the division of behavioral functions into spatial memory and navigation in the dorsal hippocampus and anxietyrelated function in the ventral hippocampus (Barkus et al. 2010). A similar scheme separates the hippocampus into cognitive and stress/emotion/affect domains (Fanselow & Dong 2010). Support for heterogeneous functions comes from differences in gene expression patterns as well as anatomical projections to and from the two regions (Fanselow & Dong 2010). Many of the behaviors discussed in this review are closely aligned with stress, emotion, and/or affect, suggesting that they may arise from changes in the ventral hippocampus specifically. However, although double dissociations provide strong behavioral evidence for a complete functional separation in some tasks (Bannerman et al. 2004), other findings suggest that the split between dorsal memory and ventral emotion functions may not be clear-cut. For example, several spatial and context learning tasks, nominally the domain of the dorsal hippocampus, are sensitive to lesions or inactivation specific to the ventral hippocampus (Ferbinteanu et al. 2003, Long & Kesner 1996, Poucet et al. 1991, Rudy & Matus-Amat 2005). Conversely, high densities of adrenal stress hormone-responsive receptors, which might be expected primarily in the ventral hippocampus, are found throughout its dorsoventral axis (Robertson et al. 2005), and both dorsal and ventral hippocampal subregions influence HPA axis activity, suggesting that the stress response functions of the hippocampus are not limited to the ventral hippocampus. Little is known about functional separation of adult-born neurons in dorsal and ventral subregions. Two studies using immediate-early genes as markers of neuronal activation found that adult-born neurons are activated by spatial water maze learning only in the ventral dentate gyrus (Snyder et al. 2009b, 2011a). This finding implies that young granule neurons in the dorsal and ventral portions of the hippocampus have differing functions, but it also points out the difficulty of disentangling learning and emotional functions: The water maze, like nearly all behavioral tasks, has strong emotional as well as learning components. Few studies have examined behavioral or other functional changes after specific ablation of adult neurogenesis in one portion of the dentate gyrus because this is methodologically quite challenging; there are currently no known dorsal/ventral-specific genetic markers of neuronal precursors, and specific targeting of dentate gyrus subregions with drugs or irradiation is also quite challenging. Having the two poles of the hippocampus perform unrelated behavioral functions does not feel

www.annualreviews.org • Adult Neurogenesis



like an elegant solution to the problem, but as Ramón y Cajal pointed out, "unfortunately, nature seems unaware of our intellectual need for convenience and unity, and very often takes delight in complication and diversity" (Ramón y Cajal 1906, p. 240). It is also possible that dorsal and ventral hippocampal functions could be different but connected, performing closely related or even directly opposing roles.

Although it is uncertain how hippocampal roles in learning/memory and emotion are related, it is clear that an accurate picture of the function of new neurons in the hippocampus must account for all of their behavioral effects, including those with emotional but not mnemonic components. One potential role for the new neurons, and the rest of the hippocampus, that appears to fit with both emotional and memory-related findings is in predicting possible outcomes of novel or ambiguous events and in emotionally biasing these predictions.

#### **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT**

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank David Bannerman for valuable comments on the manuscript. Funding was provided by the Intramural Program of the National Institute of Mental Health, National Institutes of Health, 1ZIAMH002784 (to H.A.C.).

#### LITERATURE CITED

- Abela AR, Chudasama Y. 2013. Dissociable contributions of the ventral hippocampus and orbitofrontal cortex to decision-making with a delayed or uncertain outcome. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 37(4):640–47
- Acsády L, Kamondi A, Sík A, Freund T, Buzsáki G. 1998. GABAergic cells are the major postsynaptic targets of mossy fibers in the rat hippocampus. *J. Neurosci.* 18(9):3386–403
- Addis DR, Schacter DL. 2011. The hippocampus and imagining the future: Where do we stand? Front. Hum. Neurosci. 5:173
- Agis-Balboa RC, Fischer A. 2014. Generating new neurons to circumvent your fears: the role of IGF signaling. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 71(1):21–42
- Aimone JB, Deng W, Gage FH. 2010. Adult neurogenesis: integrating theories and separating functions. Trends Cogn. Sci. 14(7):325-37
- Aimone JB, Gage FH. 2011. Modeling new neuron function: a history of using computational neuroscience to study adult neurogenesis. *Eur. 7. Neurosci.* 33(6):1160–69
- Aimone JB, Wiles J, Gage FH. 2009. Computational influence of adult neurogenesis on memory encoding. *Neuron* 61(2):187–202
- Airan RD, Meltzer LA, Roy M, Gong Y, Chen H, Deisseroth K. 2007. High-speed imaging reveals neurophysiological links to behavior in an animal model of depression. *Science* 317(5839):819–23

Altman J, Brunner RL, Bayer SA. 1973. The hippocampus and behavioral maturation. *Behav. Biol.* 8(5):557–96 Amsel A. 1958. The role of frustrative nonreward in noncontinuous reward situations. *Psychol. Bull.* 55(2):102– 19

- Amsel A. 1990. Arousal, suppression, and persistence: frustration theory, attention, and its disorders. Cogn. Emot. 4(3):239–68
  - Amsel A. 1992. Frustration Theory: An Analysis of Dispositional Learning and Memory. London: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Amsel A. 1993. Hippocampal function in the rat: cognitive mapping or vicarious trial and error? *Hippocampus* 3(3):251–56

32.22 Cameron • Glover

- Arruda-Carvalho M, Sakaguchi M, Akers KG, Josselyn SA, Frankland PW. 2011. Posttraining ablation of adult-generated neurons degrades previously acquired memories. J. Neurosci. 31(42):15113–27
- Bakker A, Kirwan CB, Miller M, Stark CEL. 2008. Pattern separation in the human hippocampal CA3 and dentate gyrus. Science 319(5870):1640–42
- Bannerman DM, Deacon RMJ, Offen S, Friswell J, Grubb M, Rawlins JNP. 2002. Double dissociation of function within the hippocampus: spatial memory and hyponeophagia. *Behav. Neurosci.* 116(5):884–901
- Bannerman DM, Good MA, Butcher SP, Ramsay M, Morris RG. 1995. Distinct components of spatial learning revealed by prior training and NMDA receptor blockade. *Nature* 378(6553):182–86
- Bannerman DM, Grubb M, Deacon RMJ, Yee BK, Feldon J, Rawlins JNP. 2003. Ventral hippocampal lesions affect anxiety but not spatial learning. *Behav. Brain Res.* 139(1–2):197–213
- Bannerman DM, Rawlins JNP, McHugh SB, Deacon RMJ, Yee BK, et al. 2004. Regional dissociations within the hippocampus—memory and anxiety. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 28(3):273–83
- Bannerman DM, Sprengel R, Sanderson DJ, McHugh SB, Rawlins JNP, et al. 2014. Hippocampal synaptic plasticity, spatial memory and anxiety. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 15:1–13
- Barkus C, McHugh SB, Sprengel R, Seeburg PH, Rawlins JNP, Bannerman DM. 2010. Hippocampal NMDA receptors and anxiety: at the interface between cognition and emotion. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 626(1):49–56
- Becker S, Macqueen G, Wojtowicz JM. 2009. Computational modeling and empirical studies of hippocampal neurogenesis-dependent memory: effects of interference, stress and depression. *Brain Res.* 1299:45–54
- Ben Abdallah NM-B, Filipkowski RK, Pruschy M, Jaholkowski P, Winkler J, et al. 2013. Impaired long-term memory retention: common denominator for acutely or genetically reduced hippocampal neurogenesis in adult mice. *Behav. Brain Res.* 252:275–86
- Bett D, Allison E, Murdoch LH, Kaefer K, Wood ER, Dudchenko PA. 2012. The neural substrates of deliberative decision making: contrasting effects of hippocampus lesions on performance and vicarious trial-and-error behavior in a spatial memory task and a visual discrimination task. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 6:70
- Beylin AV, Gandhi CC, Wood GE, Talk AC, Matzel LD, Shors TJ. 2001. The role of the hippocampus in trace conditioning: temporal discontinuity or task difficulty? *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 76(3):447–61
- Blanchard DC, Griebel G, Pobbe R, Blanchard RJ. 2011. Risk assessment as an evolved threat detection and analysis process. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 35(4):991–98
- Blanchard DC, Hori K, Rodgers RJ, Hendrie CA, Blanchard RJ. 1989. Attenuation of defensive threat and attack in wild rats (*Rattus rattus*) by benzodiazepines. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 97(3):392–401
- Blanchard RJ, Blanchard DC. 1972. Effects of hippocampal lesions on the rat's reaction to a cat. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 78(1):77–82
- Bremner JD, Elzinga B, Schmahl C, Vermetten E. 2008. Structural and functional plasticity of the human brain in posttraumatic stress disorder. *Prog. Brain Res.* 167:171–86
- Britton JC, Lissek S, Grillon C, Norcross MA, Pine DS. 2011. Development of anxiety: the role of threat appraisal and fear learning. *Depress. Anxiety* 28(1):5–17
- Buckner RL. 2010. The role of the hippocampus in prediction and imagination. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 61:27-48
- Burghardt NS, Park EH, Hen R, Fenton AA. 2012. Adult-born hippocampal neurons promote cognitive flexibility in mice. *Hippocampus* 22(9):1795–808
- Carr MF, Jadhav SP, Frank LM. 2011. Hippocampal replay in the awake state: a potential substrate for memory consolidation and retrieval. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14(2):147–53
- Chudasama Y, Doobay VM, Liu Y. 2012. Hippocampal-prefrontal cortical circuit mediates inhibitory response control in the rat. *J. Neurosci.* 32(32):10915–24
- Chudasama Y, Izquierdo A, Murray EA. 2009. Distinct contributions of the amygdala and hippocampus to fear expression. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 30(12):2327–37
- Chudasama Y, Wright KS, Murray EA. 2008. Hippocampal lesions in rhesus monkeys disrupt emotional responses but not reinforcer devaluation effects. *Biol. Psychiatry* 63(11):1084–91
- Clark DA, Beck AT. 2010. Cognitive theory and therapy of anxiety and depression: convergence with neurobiological findings. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 14(9):418–24
- Clelland CD, Choi M, Romberg C, Clemenson GD, Fragniere A, et al. 2009. A functional role for adult hippocampal neurogenesis in spatial pattern separation. *Science* 325(5937):210–13

- Conrad CD. 2006. What is the functional significance of chronic stress-induced CA3 dendritic retraction within the hippocampus? *Behav. Cogn. Neurosci. Rev.* 5(1):41–60
- Coover GD, Goldman L, Levine S. 1971. Plasma corticosterone levels during extinction of a lever-press response in hippocampectomized rats. *Physiol. Behav.* 7(5):727–32
- Dalgleish T. 2004. The emotional brain. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 5(7):583-89
- David DJ, Samuels BA, Rainer Q, Wang J-W, Marsteller D, et al. 2009. Neurogenesis-dependent and independent effects of fluoxetine in an animal model of anxiety/depression. *Neuron* 62(4):479–93
- Dayer AG, Cleaver KM, Abouantoun T, Cameron HA. 2005. New GABAergic interneurons in the adult neocortex and striatum are generated from different precursors. 7. Cell Biol. 168(3):415–27
- de Kloet ER, Karst H, Joëls M. 2008. Corticosteroid hormones in the central stress response: quick-and-slow. Front. Neuroendocrinol. 29(2):268–72
- Deacon RMJ, Bannerman DM, Rawlins JNP. 2002. Anxiolytic effects of cytotoxic hippocampal lesions in rats. Behav. Neurosci. 116(3):494–97
- Deng W, Aimone JB, Gage FH. 2010. New neurons and new memories: How does adult hippocampal neurogenesis affect learning and memory? *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 11(5):339–50
- Denny CA, Burghardt NS, Schachter DM, Hen R, Drew MR. 2012. 4- to 6-week-old adult-born hippocampal neurons influence novelty-evoked exploration and contextual fear conditioning. *Hippocampus* 22(5):1188– 201
- Douglas RJ. 1967. The hippocampus and behavior. Psychol. Bull. 67(6):416-22
- Douglas RJ, Pribram KH. 1969. Distraction and habituation in monkeys with limbic lesions. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 69(3):473–80
- Dragoi G, Tonegawa S. 2011. Preplay of future place cell sequences by hippocampal cellular assemblies. *Nature* 469(7330):397–401
- Dragoi G, Tonegawa S. 2013. Distinct preplay of multiple novel spatial experiences in the rat. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 110(22):9100–5
- Drew MR, Denny CA, Hen R. 2010. Arrest of adult hippocampal neurogenesis in mice impairs single- but not multiple-trial contextual fear conditioning. *Behav. Neurosci.* 124(4):446–54
- Dzirasa K, Covington HE. 2012. Increasing the validity of experimental models for depression. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1265:36–45
- Eichenbaum H, Cohen NJ. 2014. Can we reconcile the declarative memory and spatial navigation views on hippocampal function? *Neuron* 83(4):764–70
- Enkel T, Gholizadeh D, Bohlen Und Halbach von O, Sanchis-Segura C, Hurlemann R, et al. 2010. Ambiguous-cue interpretation is biased under stress- and depression-like states in rats. *Neuropsychophar-macology* 35(4):1008–15
- Ernst A, Alkass K, Bernard S, Salehpour M, Perl S, et al. 2014. Neurogenesis in the striatum of the adult human brain. *Cell* 156(5):1072–83
- Fanselow MS, Dong H-W. 2010. Are the dorsal and ventral hippocampus functionally distinct structures? *Neuron* 65(1):7–19
- Feierstein CE. 2012. Linking adult olfactory neurogenesis to social behavior. Front. Neurosci. 6:173
- Feierstein CE, Lazarini F, Wagner S, Gabellec M-M, de Chaumont F, et al. 2010. Disruption of adult neurogenesis in the olfactory bulb affects social interaction but not maternal behavior. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 4:176
- Felix-Ortiz AC, Tye KM. 2013. BLA to vHPC inputs modulate anxiety-related behaviors. *Neuron* 79(4):658–64
- Fendler K, Karmos G, Telegdy G. 1961. The effect of hippocampal lesion on pituitary-adrenal function. Acta Physiol. Acad. Sci. Hung. 20:293–97
- Ferbinteanu J, Ray C, McDonald RJ. 2003. Both dorsal and ventral hippocampus contribute to spatial learning in Long-Evans rats. *Neurosci. Lett.* 345(2):131–35
- Gaesser B, Spreng RN, McLelland VC, Addis DR, Schacter DL. 2013. Imagining the future: evidence for a hippocampal contribution to constructive processing. *Hippocampus* 23(12):1150–61
- Garthe A, Behr J, Kempermann G. 2009. Adult-generated hippocampal neurons allow the flexible use of spatially precise learning strategies. *PLOS ONE* 4(5):e5464

Cameron • Glover

- Garthe A, Kempermann G. 2013. An old test for new neurons: refining the Morris water maze to study the functional relevance of adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Front. Neurosci.* 7:63
- Gerlach JL, McEwen BS. 1972. Rat brain binds adrenal steroid hormone: radioautography of hippocampus with corticosterone. *Science* 175(26):1133–36
- Gianaros PJ, Jennings JR, Sheu LK, Greer PJ, Kuller LH, Matthews KA. 2007. Prospective reports of chronic life stress predict decreased grey matter volume in the hippocampus. *NeuroImage* 35(2):795–803
- Gould E, Cameron HA. 1997. Early NMDA receptor blockade impairs defensive behavior and increases cell proliferation in the dentate gyrus of developing rats. *Behav. Neurosci.* 111(1):49–56
- Gould E, Woolley CS, Cameron HA, Daniels DC, McEwen BS. 1991. Adrenal steroids regulate postnatal development of the rat dentate gyrus: II. Effects of glucocorticoids and mineralocorticoids on cell birth. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 313(3):486–93
- Gray JA, McNaughton N. 2000. The Neuropsychology of Anxiety: An Enquiry into the Function of the Septo-Hippocampal System. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press. 2nd ed.
- Groves JO, Leslie I, Huang G-J, McHugh SB, Taylor A, et al. 2013. Ablating adult neurogenesis in the rat has no effect on spatial processing: evidence from a novel pharmacogenetic model. *PLOS Genet.* 9(9):e1003718
- Hendrickson CW, Kimble RJ, Kimble DP. 1969. Hippocampal lesions and the orienting response. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 67(2):220–27
- Herman JP, Dolgas CM, Carlson SL. 1998. Ventral subiculum regulates hypothalamo-pituitaryadrenocortical and behavioural responses to cognitive stressors. *Neuroscience* 86(2):449–59
- Holick KA, Lee DC, Hen R, Dulawa SC. 2008. Behavioral effects of chronic fluoxetine in BALB/cJ mice do not require adult hippocampal neurogenesis or the serotonin 1A receptor. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 33(2):406–17
- Honey RC, Good M. 2000. Associative modulation of the orienting response: distinct effects revealed by hippocampal lesions. J. Exp. Psychol. Anim. Behav. Process. 26(1):3–14
- Hu D, Amsel A. 1995. A simple test of the vicarious trial-and-error hypothesis of hippocampal function. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92(12):5506–9
- Isaacson RL, Kimble DP. 1972. Lesions of the limbic system: their effects upon hypotheses and frustration. Bebav. Biol. 7(6):767–93
- Jacobson L, Sapolsky R. 1991. The role of the hippocampus in feedback regulation of the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenocortical axis. *Endocr. Rev.* 12(2):118–34
- Jankord R, Herman JP. 2008. Limbic regulation of hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenocortical function during acute and chronic stress. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1148:64–73
- Jarrard LE. 1968. Behavior of hippocampal lesioned rats in home cage and novel situations. *Physiol. Behav.* 3:65–70
- Johnson A, Redish AD. 2007. Neural ensembles in CA3 transiently encode paths forward of the animal at a decision point. J. Neurosci. 27(45):12176–89
- Kesner RP. 2013. An analysis of the dentate gyrus function. Behav. Brain Res. 254:1-7
- Kheirbek MA, Drew LJ, Burghardt NS, Costantini DO, Tannenholz L, et al. 2013. Differential control of learning and anxiety along the dorsoventral axis of the dentate gyrus. *Neuron* 77(5):955–68

Kheirbek MA, Klemenhagen KC, Sahay A, Hen R. 2012a. Neurogenesis and generalization: a new approach to stratify and treat anxiety disorders. *Nat. Neurosci.* 15(12):1613–20

- Kheirbek MA, Tannenholz L, Hen R. 2012b. NR2B-dependent plasticity of adult-born granule cells is necessary for context discrimination. J. Neurosci. 32(25):8696–702
- Kjelstrup KG, Tuvnes FA, Steffenach H-A, Murison R, Moser EI, Moser M-B. 2002. Reduced fear expression after lesions of the ventral hippocampus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 99(16):10825–30
- Knigge KM. 1961. Adrenocortical response to stress in rats with lesions in hippocampus and amygdala. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 108:18–21
- Koolhaas JM, Bartolomucci A, Buwalda B, De Boer SF, Flügge G, et al. 2011. Stress revisited: a critical evaluation of the stress concept. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 35(5):1291–301
- Lagace DC, Donovan MH, DeCarolis NA, Farnbauch LA, Malhotra S, et al. 2010. Adult hippocampal neurogenesis is functionally important for stress-induced social avoidance. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 107(9):4436–41



- Landgraf R, Wigger A, Holsboer F, Neumann ID. 1999. Hyper-reactive hypothalamo-pituitaryadrenocortical axis in rats bred for high anxiety-related behaviour. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 11(6):405–7
- Lazic SE. 2010. Relating hippocampal neurogenesis to behavior: the dangers of ignoring confounding variables. *Neurobiol. Aging* 31(12):2169–71; discussion 2172–75
- Lazic SE. 2012. Using causal models to distinguish between neurogenesis-dependent and -independent effects on behaviour. J. R. Soc. Interface 9(70):907–17
- Lever C, Burton S, O'Keefe J. 2006. Rearing on hind legs, environmental novelty, and the hippocampal formation. *Rev. Neurosci.* 17(1–2):111–33
- Levine S, Goldman L, Coover GD. 1972. Expectancy and the pituitary-adrenal system. *Ciba Found. Symp.* 8:281–91
- Liebsch G, Linthorst AC, Neumann ID, Reul JM, Holsboer F, Landgraf R. 1998. Behavioral, physiological, and neuroendocrine stress responses and differential sensitivity to diazepam in two Wistar rat lines selectively bred for high- and low-anxiety-related behavior. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 19(5):381–96
- Long JM, Kesner RP. 1996. The effects of dorsal versus ventral hippocampal, total hippocampal, and parietal cortex lesions on memory for allocentric distance in rats. *Bebav. Neurosci.* 110(5):922–32
- Luu P, Sill OC, Gao L, Becker S, Wojtowicz JM, Smith DM. 2012. The role of adult hippocampal neurogenesis in reducing interference. *Behav. Neurosci.* 126(3):381–91
- Machado CJ, Bachevalier J. 2008. Behavioral and hormonal reactivity to threat: effects of selective amygdala, hippocampal or orbital frontal lesions in monkeys. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 33(7):926–41
- Machado CJ, Kazama AM, Bachevalier J. 2009. Impact of amygdala, orbital frontal, or hippocampal lesions on threat avoidance and emotional reactivity in nonhuman primates. *Emotion* 9(2):147–63
- Mak GK, Weiss S. 2010. Paternal recognition of adult offspring mediated by newly generated CNS neurons. Nat. Neurosci. 13(6):753–58
- Mandell AJ, Chapman LF, Rand RW, Walter RD. 1963. Plasma corticosteroids: changes in concentration after stimulation of hippocampus and amygdala. Science 139(3560):1212
- Martin VC, Schacter DL, Corballis MC, Addis DR. 2011. A role for the hippocampus in encoding simulations of future events. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 108(33):13858–63

McEwen BS. 1998. Stress, adaptation, and disease. Allostasis and allostatic load. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 840:33-44

- McEwen BS, Weiss JM, Schwartz LS. 1968. Selective retention of corticosterone by limbic structures in rat brain. Nature 220(5170):911–12
- McHugh SB, Deacon RMJ, Rawlins JNP, Bannerman DM. 2004. Amygdala and ventral hippocampus contribute differentially to mechanisms of fear and anxiety. *Bebav. Neurosci.* 118(1):63–78
- McNaughton N, Corr PJ. 2004. A two-dimensional neuropsychology of defense: fear/anxiety and defensive distance. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 28(3):285–305
- Miller JS, Nonneman AJ, Kelly KS, Neisewander JL, Isaac WL. 1986. Disruption of neophobia, conditioned odor aversion, and conditioned taste aversion in rats with hippocampal lesions. *Behav. Neural Biol.* 45(2):240–53
- Molitor RJ, Ko PC, Hussey EP, Ally BA. 2014. Memory-related eye movements challenge behavioral measures of pattern completion and pattern separation. *Hippocampus* 24(6):666–72
- Mueller NK, Dolgas CM, Herman JP. 2004. Stressor-selective role of the ventral subiculum in regulation of neuroendocrine stress responses. *Endocrinology* 145(8):3763–68
- Mullally SL, Maguire EA. 2013. Memory, imagination, and predicting the future: a common brain mechanism? *Neuroscientist* 20(3):220–34
- Nakashiba T, Cushman JD, Pelkey KA, Renaudineau S, Buhl DL, et al. 2012. Young dentate granule cells mediate pattern separation, whereas old granule cells facilitate pattern completion. *Cell* 149(1):188–201
- Niibori Y, Yu T-S, Epp JR, Akers KG, Josselyn SA, Frankland PW. 2012. Suppression of adult neurogenesis impairs population coding of similar contexts in hippocampal CA3 region. *Nat. Commun.* 3:1253
- Noguès X, Corsini MM, Marighetto A, Abrous DN. 2012. Functions for adult neurogenesis in memory: an introduction to the neurocomputational approach and to its contribution. *Behav. Brain Res.* 227(2):418–25
- O'Keefe J, Nadel L. 1978. The Hippocampus as a Cognitive Map. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Papez JW. 1937. A proposed mechanism of emotion. Arch. Neurol. Psychiatry 38:725–43
- Pentkowski NS, Blanchard DC, Lever C, Litvin Y, Blanchard RJ. 2006. Effects of lesions to the dorsal and ventral hippocampus on defensive behaviors in rats. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 23(8):2185–96

32.26 Cameron • Glover

41

- Pfeiffer BE, Foster DJ. 2013. Hippocampal place-cell sequences depict future paths to remembered goals. *Nature* 497(7447):74–79
- Piatti VC, An Y, Appalaraju M, Gillet S, Cameron HA, et al. 2014. Behavioral discrimination and network pattern separation can occur in the absence of neurogenesis. Program No. 465.01. 2014 Neurosci. Meet. Plan. Washington, DC: Soc. Neurosci.
- Pigareva ML, Preobrazhenskaya LA. 1991. Comparative psychological approach to the analysis of the functions of the hippocampus. *Neurosci. Behav. Physiol.* 21(3):238–46
- Poucet B, Herrmann T, Buhot MC. 1991. Effects of short-lasting inactivations of the ventral hippocampus and medial septum on long-term and short-term acquisition of spatial information in rats. *Behav. Brain Res.* 44(1):53–65
- Pribram KH, McGuinness D. 1975. Arousal, activation, and effort in the control of attention. *Psychol. Rev.* 82(2):116–49
- Raber J, Rola R, LeFevour A, Morhardt D, Curley J, et al. 2004. Radiation-induced cognitive impairments are associated with changes in indicators of hippocampal neurogenesis. *Radiat. Res.* 162(1):39–47
- Ramón y Cajal S. 1906. Nobel Lecture: The Structure and Connexions of Neurons. http://www.nobelprize. org/nobel\_prizes/medicine/laureates/1906/cajal-lecture.pdf
- Raphelson AC, Isaacson RL, Douglas RJ. 1965. The effect of distracting stimuli on the runway performance of limbic damaged rats. *Psychon. Sci.* 3:483–84
- Rawlins JN, Feldon J, Gray JA. 1980. The effects of hippocampectomy and of fimbria section upon the partial reinforcement extinction effect in rats. *Exp. Brain Res.* 38(3):273–83
- Richmond MA, Yee BK, Pouzet B, Veenman L, Rawlins JN, et al. 1999. Dissociating context and space within the hippocampus: effects of complete, dorsal, and ventral excitotoxic hippocampal lesions on conditioned freezing and spatial learning. *Behav. Neurosci.* 113(6):1189–203
- Robertson DAF, Beattie JE, Reid IC, Balfour DJK. 2005. Regulation of corticosteroid receptors in the rat brain: the role of serotonin and stress. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 21(6):1511–20
- Robins SC, Stewart I, McNay DE, Taylor V, Giachino C, et al. 2013. α-Tanycytes of the adult hypothalamic third ventricle include distinct populations of FGF-responsive neural progenitors. *Nat. Commun.* 4:2049
- Rubin RT, Mandell AJ, Crandall PH. 1966. Corticosteroid responses to limbic stimulation in man: localization of stimulus sites. *Science* 153(3737):767–68
- Rudy JW, Matus-Amat P. 2005. The ventral hippocampus supports a memory representation of context and contextual fear conditioning: implications for a unitary function of the hippocampus. *Behav. Neurosci.* 119(1):154–63
- Sahay A, Scobie KN, Hill AS, O'Carroll CM, Kheirbek MA, et al. 2011a. Increasing adult hippocampal neurogenesis is sufficient to improve pattern separation. *Nature* 472(7344):466–70
- Sahay A, Wilson DA, Hen R. 2011b. Pattern separation: a common function for new neurons in hippocampus and olfactory bulb. *Neuron* 70(4):582–88
- Sanchez-Andrade G, Kendrick KM. 2009. The main olfactory system and social learning in mammals. Behav. Brain Res. 200(2):323–35
- Santarelli L, Saxe M, Gross C, Surget A, Battaglia F, et al. 2003. Requirement of hippocampal neurogenesis for the behavioral effects of antidepressants. *Science* 301(5634):805–9
- Sapolsky RM. 2000. Glucocorticoids and hippocampal atrophy in neuropsychiatric disorders. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 57(10):925–35
- Sapolsky RM, Krey LC, McEwen BS. 1984. Glucocorticoid-sensitive hippocampal neurons are involved in terminating the adrenocortical stress response. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81(19):6174–77
- Saucier D, Cain DP. 1995. Spatial learning without NMDA receptor-dependent long-term potentiation. *Nature* 378(6553):186–89
- Saxe MD, Battaglia F, Wang J-W, Malleret G, David DJ, et al. 2006. Ablation of hippocampal neurogenesis impairs contextual fear conditioning and synaptic plasticity in the dentate gyrus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 103(46):17501–6
- Schmidt B, Papale A, Redish AD, Markus EJ. 2013. Conflict between place and response navigation strategies: effects on vicarious trial and error (VTE) behaviors. *Learn. Mem.* 20(3):130–38
- Shors TJ, Miesegaes G, Beylin A, Zhao M, Rydel T, Gould E. 2001. Neurogenesis in the adult is involved in the formation of trace memories. *Nature* 410(6826):372–76



- Shors TJ, Townsend DA, Zhao M, Kozorovitskiy Y, Gould E. 2002. Neurogenesis may relate to some but not all types of hippocampal-dependent learning. *Hippocampus* 12(5):578–84
- Silveira JM, Kimble DP. 1968. Brightness discrimination and reversal in hippocampally-lesioned rats. Physiol. Behav. 3:625–30
- Simonov PV. 1974. On the role of the hippocampus in the integrative activity of the brain. *Acta Neurobiol. Exp.* 34(1):33–41
- Simonov PV. 1991. Thwarted action and need—informational theories of emotions. Int. J. Comp. Psychol. 5(2):103-7
- Singer AC, Carr MF, Karlsson MP, Frank LM. 2013. Hippocampal SWR activity predicts correct decisions during the initial learning of an alternation task. *Neuron* 77(6):1163–73
- Slusher MA, Hyde JE. 1961. Effect of limbic stimulation on release of corticosteroids into the adrenal venous effluent of the cat. *Endocrinology* 69:1080–84
- Snyder JS, Choe JS, Clifford MA, Jeurling SI, Hurley P, et al. 2009a. Adult-born hippocampal neurons are more numerous, faster maturing, and more involved in behavior in rats than in mice. *J. Neurosci.* 29(46):14484–95
- Snyder JS, Hong NS, McDonald RJ, Wojtowicz JM. 2005. A role for adult neurogenesis in spatial long-term memory. *Neuroscience* 130(4):843–52
- Snyder JS, Radik R, Wojtowicz JM, Cameron HA. 2009b. Anatomical gradients of adult neurogenesis and activity: Young neurons in the ventral dentate gyrus are activated by water maze training. *Hippocampus* 19(4):360–70
- Snyder JS, Ramchand P, Rabbett S, Radik R, Wojtowicz JM, Cameron HA. 2011a. Septo-temporal gradients of neurogenesis and activity in 13-month-old rats. *Neurobiol. Aging* 32(6):1149–56
- Snyder JS, Soumier A, Brewer M, Pickel J, Cameron HA. 2011b. Adult hippocampal neurogenesis buffers stress responses and depressive behaviour. *Nature* 476(7361):458–61
- Sun M-Y, Yetman MJ, Lee T-C, Chen Y, Jankowsky JL. 2014. Specificity and efficiency of reporter expression in adult neural progenitors vary substantially among nestin-CreER(T2) lines. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 522(5):1191–208
- Surget A, Tanti A, Leonardo ED, Laugeray A, Rainer Q, et al. 2011. Antidepressants recruit new neurons to improve stress response regulation. *Mol. Psychiatry* 16(12):1177–88
- Takahashi LK. 1992. Developmental expression of defensive responses during exposure to conspecific adults in preweanling rats (*Rattus norvegicus*). J. Comp. Psychol. 106(1):69–77
- Takahashi LK. 1995. Glucocorticoids, the hippocampus, and behavioral inhibition in the preweanling rat. *7. Neurosci.* 15(9):6023-34
- Takahashi LK. 1996. Glucocorticoids and the hippocampus. Developmental interactions facilitating the expression of behavioral inhibition. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 13(3):213–26
- Tan Y-F, Rosenzweig S, Jaffray D, Wojtowicz JM. 2011. Depletion of new neurons by image guided irradiation. *Front. Neurosci.* 5:59
- Tolman EC. 1938. The determiners of behavior at a choice point. Psychol. Rev. 45:1-41
- Tsetsenis T, Ma X-H, Lo Iacono L, Beck SG, Gross C. 2007. Suppression of conditioning to ambiguous cues by pharmacogenetic inhibition of the dentate gyrus. *Nat. Neurosci.* 10(7):896–902
- Ulrich-Lai YM, Herman JP. 2009. Neural regulation of endocrine and autonomic stress responses. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 10(6):397–409
- Wang J-W, David DJ, Monckton JE, Battaglia F, Hen R. 2008. Chronic fluoxetine stimulates maturation and synaptic plasticity of adult-born hippocampal granule cells. J. Neurosci. 28(6):1374–84
- Weeden CSS. 2012. The role of ventral dentate gyrus in olfactory learning and memory and anxiety-like behaviors. Phd Thesis, Univ. Utah. http://content.lib.utah.edu/cdm/ref/collection/etd3/id/1779
- Wickelgren WO, Isaacson RL. 1963. Effect of the introduction of an irrelevant stimulus on runway performance of the hippocampectomized rat. *Nature* 200:48–50
- Winocur G, Becker S, Luu P, Rosenzweig S, Wojtowicz JM. 2012. Adult hippocampal neurogenesis and memory interference. *Behav. Brain Res.* 227(2):464–69
- Winocur G, Wojtowicz JM, Sekeres M, Snyder JS, Wang S. 2006. Inhibition of neurogenesis interferes with hippocampus-dependent memory function. *Hippocampus* 16(3):296–304

32.28 Cameron • Glover

- Wojtowicz JM. 2006. Irradiation as an experimental tool in studies of adult neurogenesis. *Hippocampus* 16(3):261-66
- Wojtowicz JM, Askew ML, Winocur G. 2008. The effects of running and of inhibiting adult neurogenesis on learning and memory in rats. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 27(6):1494–502
- Wong-Goodrich SJE, Pfau ML, Flores CT, Fraser JA, Williams CL, Jones LW. 2010. Voluntary running prevents progressive memory decline and increases adult hippocampal neurogenesis and growth factor expression after whole-brain irradiation. *Cancer Res.* 70(22):9329–38
- Woodruff ML, Hatton DC, Meyer ME. 1975. Hippocampal ablation prolongs immobility response in rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*). J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 88(1):329–34
- Wu MV, Hen R. 2014. Functional dissociation of adult-born neurons along the dorsoventral axis of the dentate gyrus. *Hippocampus* 24(7):751–61
- Yee LT, Warren DE, Voss JL, Duff MC, Tranel D, Cohen NJ. 2014. The hippocampus uses information just encountered to guide efficient ongoing behavior. *Hippocampus* 24(2):154–64



www.annualreviews.org • Adult Neurogenesis